
Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 1 
 

MINUTES OF THE 
SOUTHWEST FLORIDA REGIONAL PLANNING COUNCIL 

JUNE 19, 2025, MEETING 

 
The in-person and virtual zoom meeting of the Southwest Florida Regional Planning Council’s 
Executive Board was held on June 19, 2025. The meeting started at approximately 10:00 am.  A 
quorum of the Executive Committee was present. 

 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

 
Charlotte County:  Mr. Don McCormick (zoom) 

 
Collier County: Commissioner Bill McDaniel 

 
Glades County: Commissioner, Tim Stanley 

 
Hendry County: Commissioner Michael Atkinson (zoom), 

Commissioner Emma Byrd (zoom) 

 
Lee County: None 

 
Sarasota County: None 

 
Ex-Officio Members: Phil Flood (zoom) 

 
OTHERS PRESENT 

 
Ms. Rebekah Harp – SWFRPC, Interim Executive Director 
Ms. Asmaa Odeh – SWFRPC, Deputy Director, LEPC Coordinator/VISTA Supervisor 
Mr. Jim Burch – SWFRPC, Disaster Recovery Coordinator/Project Manager 
Ms. Catherine Peralta – SWFRPC Resiliency Project Support 
Ms. Kristin Dozier – FRCA Executive Director 
Ms. Jennifer Codo-Salisbury – CFRPC Executive Director 
Ms. Marybeth Soderstrom – CFRPC 
Mr. Norman White – CFRPC Attorney 
Mr. Dirk Danley – Lee County Economic Development Office 
Mr. Paul Carlisle – County Manager of Glades County 
Ms. Wren Krahl – TBRPC Executive Director 
Ms. Julie Wilkins – Mayor of Labelle 

 
Zoom Attendance 

 
Ms. Jennifer Davis – Hendry County Administrator 
Mr Tom Lanahan – TCRPC Executive Director 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 2 
 

Ms. Isabel Carballo – SFRPC Executive Director 
Ms. Tami Hulse – CFRPC 
Mr. Mike McDaniel – CFRPC 
Ms. Jennifer Hecker- CHNEP Executive Director 
Mr. Derek Felder – Unite Lehigh, Inc. 
Ms. Alysia Cancel – SWFRPC Vista 
Ms. Dusty Hansen – Collier County MPO 
Ms. Rana Brown – Ronald L. Book, P.A. – FRCA 
Mr. Joe DuCette 
Mr. Warren Baucom – Lee County Economic Development Office 

 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 

 
Commissioner Tim Stanley offered a motion to accept the agenda as printed. Commissioner 

Bill McDaniel seconded the motion to accept the agenda as printed. The motion was 
approved unanimously. 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #6(a) - APPOINTMENT 
Interim Executive Director- New Leadership 

 
Commissioner Bill McDaniel offered a motion to appoint Rebekah Harp as the new Interim 
Executive Director. Mr. Don McCormick seconded the motion to appoint Rebekah Harp as the 
new Interim Executive Director. The motion was approved unanimously. 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #6(b) - MINUTES 
MINUTES OF MAY 15, 2025, COUNCIL/EXECUTIVE MEETING 

 
Commissioner Tim Stanley offered a motion to accept May 15, 2025, Council/Executive 
Meeting Minutes. Mr. Don McCormick seconded the motion to accept May 15, 2025, 
Council/Executive Meeting Minutes. The motion was approved unanimously. 

 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM #6(c) – FINANCIALS: 
MAY FINANCIALS 

 
Ms. Rebekah Harp provided the financial update, referring to page 34 of the meeting packet. 
She reported a year-to-date deficit of $137,000 and a monthly deficit of $30,000 for May. Ms. 
Harp noted that substantial invoicing is expected this month, including the completion of the 
FDEP grant and regular LEPC invoicing, which should help improve the Council’s cash flow. She 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 3 
 

is closely monitoring expenditures moving forward, and emphasized that most expenditures are 
related to staffing, which is expected. However, cash flow remains tight, with only $26,000 in 
the operating account, though approximately $109,000 remains in reserves. 

 
Commissioner Tim Stanley offered a motion to accept May financials. Commissioner Bill 
McDaniel seconded the motion to accept the May financials. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 

 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM #6(c) – FINANCIALS: 
Overview of Financials: FY25 Projected YE, Draft FY26 Budget 

 
Ms. Harp presented the FY 2025 budget projections, indicating the Council is expected to close 
the fiscal year with a deficit of approximately $96,000. It was noted that 97% of revenues are 
derived from grant funding, with only a small portion coming from membership dues. The 
Council continues to manage several key grant-funded projects, including LEPC, Resiliency, 
Economic Development, and Brownfields. The majority of expenditure is allocated to staff 
salaries and project-related costs. 

 
As of June 30, the Council will be supporting three full-time staff; however, if the FDEP 
continuation grant is awarded, the Council will be able to support five full-time employees, as 
those positions are included in the grant proposal. The current fiscal year also includes one- 
time expenses, such as a $13,000 payout to the outgoing Executive Director and a more 
expensive audit due to the single audit requirement. Despite the projected deficit, the Council 
expects to maintain a small reserve of just under $13,000 by the end of the year. Ms. Harp 
noted that staff will continue to focus on securing grant funding and, most importantly, work to 
get members involved to stay on solid ground moving forward. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel emphasized the bigger picture, noting that the Council currently has 
enough funding to operate through the end of September, even without the collection of 
additional membership dues or new grant funding. He stressed that this situation is not new 
and has been a topic of discussion for several years. Commissioner McDaniel stated that he 
began raising concerns about the Council’s financial burn rate, as well as declining membership 
participation and contributions, three to four years ago. He explained that these ongoing 
challenges have directly contributed to the Council’s current financial position. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel acknowledged the reality of the situation, stating that while the 
decisions made today may not be immediately consequential, the Council will continue its 
efforts and reconvene next month. He emphasized the Council’s commitment to persist, re- 
engage other members to return and participate actively, and accept the draft Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU), as well as the bylaws and interlocal agreement, which include 
adjustments to the existing per diem structure. 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 4 
 

Commissioner McDaniel pointed to a colleague from Lee County Economic Development, 
emphasizing that this individual, of all people, can help carry the message about the necessity 
of regional collaboration. He stressed that in terms of economic development; all counties need 
to communicate regularly. He stated the importance of knowing what each county, Lee, Collier, 
Charlotte, Sarasota, and others, is doing. Commissioner McDaniel expressed his belief that such 
communication and cooperation represent the ultimate effectiveness of the organization, 
especially concerning communication, planning, and process. 

 
AGENDA ITEM #7 

DISCUSSION: Options for the Southwest Florida Regional Planning Council- 
Jennifer Codo-Salisbury, Marybeth Soderstrom, Norman White, CFRPC, Kristin Dozier, FRCA 

 
AGENDA ITEM #8 

PATH FORWARD- Jennifer Codo-Salisbury, CFRPC / Kristin Dozier, FRCA 

 
Commissioner McDaniel introduced the next agenda item, regarding the discussion of the 
options for the Southwest Florida Regional Planning Council. 

 
Jennifer Codo-Salisbury, the Executive Director of the Central Florida Regional Planning Council 
(CFRPC), expressed appreciation for the opportunity to speak and introduced three potential 
options for moving forward, strongly recommending Option 3. She then turned the discussion 
over to Norman White, General Counsel for CFRPC, who provided background on the statutory 
creation of all Regional Planning Councils (RPCs) in Florida. 

 
Mr. White explained that RPCs were originally founded around a common purpose, particularly 
focused on Developments of Regional Impact (DRIs), which once constituted the majority of 
their work. As DRIs diminished 20–25 years ago, RPCs had to evolve or face dissolution. Most 
RPCs, including Central Florida’s, adapted by pursuing grants and hiring professional staff to 
become essential resources for their regions. He acknowledged that the Southwest Florida RPC 
(SWFRPC) did not undergo that same evolution and is now facing significant financial 
challenges, with concerns about whether the organization can remain solvent past September. 

 
He noted that dissolution would require legislative action due to the Council’s statutory nature, 
which could trigger broader consequences for all RPCs in the state. He cautioned against 
disbanding or attempting to reassign counties to other RPCs on a short timeline, emphasizing 
that such changes would not be feasible before September and would also require legislative 
involvement. 

 
Instead, Mr. White proposed a third option: that SWFRPC enter into a one-year agreement with 
CFRPC. Under this arrangement, CFRPC would provide skeleton staff support to help maintain 
operations, fulfill existing contractual obligations, and close out projects, provided those 
obligations were still funded. The contract would be flexible, allowing either party to exit at any 
time, and would be structured to ensure CFRPC would not incur financial losses. 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 5 
 

During that year, CFRPC staff would work closely with counties, cities, and other stakeholders in 
Southwest Florida to develop a comprehensive, consensus-based plan for the future of regional 
planning in the area. That plan could then be presented to the Legislature. Mr. White 
emphasized that, while SWFRPC is currently in a difficult position, this moment also presents an 
opportunity to reimagine and rebuild the Council into a more valuable resource. He closed by 
noting that while CFRPC leadership had not yet formally reviewed or approved the proposed 
partnership, staff believed it to be a viable path forward and were willing to explore it further. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel noted that he had anticipated this financial situation for some time 
and had already been in communication with senior staff at Collier County. He stated that 
Collier County staff are prepared to step in and provide administrative support, including grant 
administration, accounting, and related duties, to ensure that financial records are maintained 
in an auditable form like the support proposed by the Central Florida Regional Planning Council. 
He emphasized that while Collier County does not intend to incur financial losses, the county is 
willing to take on this temporary role to support continuity. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel added that if an interlocal agreement with Central Florida proves too 
burdensome, Collier County has a contingency plan in place to proceed independently. The 
overarching goal, he reiterated, is to ensure that the Council continues to exist in some form. 
He stressed the importance of members adopting the draft interlocal agreement, bylaws, and 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), which have been circulated to member governments 
for some time without formal responses. He noted that this Council recently adopted those 
draft documents, which is a necessary step for individual members to do the same and to 
enable payment through their respective clerk of court offices. 

 
Commissioner Tim Stanley stated that Glades County is already an active member of the 
Council and has continued to pay dues, noting that they never withdrew their membership. As 
such, any newly adopted bylaws by the Council now apply to his county as well, and those 
documents are effectively in place. 

 
Commissioner Stanley stated that CFRPC would be better prepared to go to the other counties 
and explain why they need to return to the Southwest Florida Regional Planning Council, rather 
than commissioners trying to do so individually. He noted that CFRPC knows the resources, 
what they can do, and what they can't, whereas if he were to go and try to explain, it might not 
be as effective. He mentioned that he had already spoken to three commissioners, one from 
Hendry County, one from Charlotte County and that he had tried to call Commissioner Brian 
Hamman from Lee County the day before but was unable to reach him. He noted that Brian did 
not return the call, and despite the effort, there was still no representation at the meeting. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel cautioned the Council to be mindful of Sunshine Law regulations, 
emphasizing that discussions regarding RPC business among members outside of advertised 
meetings could create legal complications. He noted that Commissioner Brian Hamman remains 
a member of the Council, and that past concerns around the Council's relevancy have persisted 
for years. Reflecting on Hamman’s history, McDaniel recalled that even a decade ago, relevancy 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 6 
 

was an issue so much so that Hamman once left a meeting in frustration over the Council's 
perceived ineffectiveness. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel acknowledged key points raised by Norman White and elaborated on a 
significant challenge the Council faced following the dissolution of the Department of 
Community Affairs under Governor Rick Scott. He explained that this action stripped the 
regional planning councils of meaningful authority, leaving them largely as informational bodies 
without power over developments of regional impact (DRIs), comprehensive plans, or similar 
matters. As a result, former Executive Director Margaret Wuerstle was limited in her capacity to 
engage meaningfully, despite efforts to involve developers and comment on local planning 
issues. 

 
He underscored the importance of adopting the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws 
documents that have long been circulated among member counties with little response. He 
stressed that adoption by the member counties is critical to allow the organization to function 
and potentially motivate renewed engagement. 

 
Providing context, Commissioner McDaniel described efforts he supported in 2021–2022 to 
streamline the Council’s membership structure. At that time, membership was narrowed to the 
six statutory counties each represented by two commissioners plus one municipal 
representative from each county. This reduced the overall body to a manageable group of 18 
members, with the goal of achieving consistent quorum and enabling effective governance. He 
clarified that any expansion of municipal participation beyond that framework would be at the 
discretion of the restructured body. 

 
In conclusion, Commissioner McDaniel emphasized that regardless of whether Collier County or 
the Central Florida Regional Planning Council steps in to assist, the immediate priority must be 
the acceptance of the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws by the counties. Doing so 
would enable the Council to remain operational and set the stage for future restructuring and 
revitalization. 

 
Jim Burch asked to pause the discussion momentarily to inquire about the size of the staff at 
CFRPC. 

 
Ms. Jennifer Codo-Salisbury explained that the CFRPC employs 22 staff members. She 
compared the situation to receiving poor service at a business stating people are unlikely to 
return or pay again if they feel they didn’t receive value. She emphasized that counties are 
more likely to re-engage if they first see legitimacy and benefit from the organization. As a 
solution, she suggested a 12-month probationary period with CFRPC or with Collier County to 
regain dialogue across jurisdictional boundaries. Ms. Codo-Salisbury warned that continuing to 
request funding would accelerate the Council’s closure, currently planned for September 30. 
She also referenced two recent bills, 1125 and 1264, stating was in great part due to the failure 
of this agency and cautioned that similar legislation could return. While thanking Glades for its 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 7 
 

continued support, she stressed that forcing 6 counties to pay through statutory obligation is 
not a productive or sustainable approach. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel clarified that the legislation in question does not state “thou shalt 
pay,” but rather “thou should pay,” which has given counties flexibility to withhold funding 
when they perceive the organization as lacking relevance. He acknowledged Burch’s earlier 
question but emphasized the urgency of moving the meeting forward, as a voting member 
would be leaving in six minutes. McDaniel suggested transitioning to the Executive Board 
session to conduct an official vote, assuring that broader discussion could resume afterward. 

 
Ms. Kristin Dozier requested 30 seconds to provide an update, referring to a request made at 
the May Board meeting for her team to reach out to Ron Book, the lobbyist representing the 
FRCA, which advocates on behalf of all Regional Planning Councils in the state. She noted that 
although Southwest Florida RPC is not currently a dues-paying member unlike the nine other 
RPCs who do contribute, FRCA has continued to include Southwest in board meetings to 
maintain engagement. 

 
Ms. Dozier reported that she, Jennifer, and FRCA's Executive Committee met with both Ron 
Book and Ronna Brown. The lobbyists echoed the recommendation to use the upcoming year 
as a time to rehabilitate and reestablish the Southwest Florida RPC’s relevance. They expressed 
concern aligned with Jennifer’s earlier remarks that Southwest had been specifically referenced 
during closed-door legislative discussions in the most recent session concerning the removal of 
RPCs from state statute. This reference, they said, was used as an indication that other RPCs 
were not viable also. Ms. Dozier emphasized that the FRCA made a concerted effort to support 
all Regional Planning Councils, including Southwest, and expressed that they are committed to 
making this effort successful. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel expressed that the Executive Board members present have reviewed 
the various financial scenarios, which essentially remain unchanged unless additional members 
begin contributing. Along with stating that they need to contact organizations and can make 
that decision next month or the month after. He proposed focusing on three options: 
realignment, dissolution, or probation. With a quorum currently present, he requested that the 
Executive Board take action on one of these three scenarios, then opened the floor for 
discussion or a motion. 

 
Commissioner Tim Stanley offered a motion to accept Option 3 to join the probationary 
period. Mr. McCormick seconded the motion to accept Option 3 to join the probationary 
period. The motion was approved unanimously 

 
Mr. Carlisle stated that the motion could be made contingent upon the review of the 
agreement and the MOU. Commissioner McDaniel responded that such a review was presumed 
and did not necessarily have to occur today. Commissioner McDaniel then noted that a motion 
and a second had been made to proceed with placing the organization into probation status 
based on the options presented. 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 8 
 

 
Commissioner McDaniel suggested moving forward by going around the room, starting with 
Mr. Burch’s earlier comments. Mr. Burch responded by first thanking Commissioner McDaniel 
for his leadership regarding the matter. Mr. Burch stated that the MOU would spell out the 
agreement as mentioned earlier, but right now the Council had just voted on, in his opinion, 
something they have no idea what they voted on. He noted that there is a 22-member council 
that graciously wants to help the RPC and Southwest, but we don’t know how or what the 
terms or conditions are. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel responded that he did not agree with Mr. Burch’s concern about voting 
on something without knowing the details. He stated that they do know what they’re doing, 
and if an agreement whether an interlocal or one involving the Central Florida Regional Planning 
Council is acceptable to the organization, they can move forward with it. He emphasized that 
the organization is entering a probationary period regardless, due to statutory and legislative 
circumstances shared earlier by Mr. White. If the interlocal agreement from Central is not 
satisfactory, McDaniel noted that Collier County’s resources could be used to support the 
organization. He reiterated that more than one option is available and clarified that he was not 
trying to be confrontational but rather pointing out that they are not limited to a single path 
forward. 

 
Ms. Wilkins brought the discussion back to the issue of relevancy. She questioned whether 
former Executive Director Margaret had ever gone before individual county commissions to 
make a formal presentation. She recalled that this idea had been discussed years ago to directly 
show and prove the organization's relevance. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel responded to Ms. Wilkins by clarifying that Margaret and the previous 
Chair, Don McCormick, had indeed gone before county commissions, but they were only given 
the standard three minutes allotted at the beginning of meetings often for topics unrelated to 
RPC matters or that may never appear on a commission agenda. As a result, they could not 
engage with the boards meaningfully. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel explained that since becoming Chair roughly six to eight months ago, 
he has been working to be on an agenda item at county commission meetings to present and 
discuss the relevancy of the RPC directly with the board members. He emphasized his desire to 
move beyond the limited three-minute public comment period, wants the opportunity to 
engage more deeply with commissioners. 

 
He expressed interest in having Jennifer Codo-Salisbury from CFRPC accompany him to these 
meetings and outlined his goal of hearing firsthand from county commissioners, such as Brian, 
about their concerns or opposition to participating in the RPC. Commissioner McDaniel added 
that, as they move forward, he and Jennifer will formally request time on county commission 
agendas as a resolution or action item. This would allow not only the board members but also 
the public and staff to communicate directly with them regarding the RPC. He mentioned that 
despite his repeated outreach efforts through emails, phone calls, and direct conversations 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 9 
 

with board members and staff across member counties these attempts have not yet resulted in 
scheduled agenda items. He acknowledged the difficulty, given everyone’s demanding 
workload, but emphasized that securing formal agenda time remains a key objective going 
forward. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel circled back to Mr. White for his input. Mr. White clarified that Central 
Florida RPC’s willingness to assist is not driven by altruism, but rather by self-preservation. He 
explained that rumors coming out of Tallahassee have indicated that Southwest has been a 
catalyst for concerning legislative proposals that could significantly impact Central Florida’s five 
counties. He emphasized that their interest in helping is rooted in protecting their own RPC. Mr. 
White stated that Central Florida RPC does not intend to lose money in this process and made it 
clear they do not seek additional financial burdens. However, pending approval from their own 
council and a review of the proposed agreement, they are prepared to step in and provide 
support for one year. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel thanked Mr. White for his input and asked him to prepare a draft 
agreement for the board to review at the following month’s meeting. He also offered to attend 
Central Florida RPC’s council meeting, if needed, to provide context on the current situation 
and explain the direction Southwest Florida RPC is heading. 

 
Ms. Dozier shared several thoughts, beginning with her agreement with the importance of 
presenting to and supporting commissions. Drawing from her 12 years on the county 
commission, she explained that her understanding of regional planning councils began with her 
involvement in the Apalachee Regional Planning Council. She noted that while all 10 councils 
are different, her perspective was shaped during a pivotal time just before 2011, when DCA was 
closed and the DRI process changed. She witnessed her local council reinvent itself, and over 
time, counties that were once skeptical became some of the strongest supporters. 

 
Ms. Dozier acknowledged that many regional planning councils have undergone similar turmoil 
over the past 15 years, not identical to SWFRPC’s situation but have emerged stronger and 
more effective. She emphasized that her role is to support all 10 councils and stated that she 
believes Southwest Florida is stronger as a region. She encouraged the members to remain 
unified, offering FRCA’s support in that process. 

 
She expressed gratitude to the Interim Executive Director Rebekah and the SWFRPC staff, 
highlighting the numerous meetings held since the May board meeting to strategize beyond 
just placing items on commission agendas. These discussions included outreach from SWFRPC 
staff to county staff for more in-depth conversations prior to official commission meetings. Ms. 
Dozier recommended that while it’s beneficial for Jennifer Codo-Salisbury to attend 
presentations with the Chair, the visibility of new leadership like Rebekah could help convey 
that the organization is moving in a new direction with new opportunities. 

 
She emphasized FRCA’s and other RPCs’ willingness to support these efforts through 
partnerships and communications, including showcasing ongoing programs like first responder 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 10 
 

training specifically the Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC) programs that serve all 
counties regardless of dues status. She added that she had communicated with the FDEM 
earlier that week to affirm FRCA’s support for SWFRPC in upcoming contracts. 

 
Ms. Dozier also mentioned that the six counties form a contiguous region and that choosing an 
alternative option could delay or complicate services like LEPC, potentially increasing costs. 
FRCA can help articulate and explore those details. 

 
Lastly, she addressed the prior board discussion about submitting a letter to the state along 
with the audit, noting the 45-day deadline after board approval. Based on conversations with 
lobbyist Ron Book and other RPC directors, she strongly recommended limiting current 
communication with the state to that single required letter. She suggested including a cover 
letter outlining the executive committee’s recent action, the exploration of recovery options, 
and existing partnerships aimed at rebuilding the organization. She emphasized the importance 
of managing communications carefully given the unpredictable recent legislative session and 
the upcoming election year, aiming to protect both SWFRPC and all other regional planning 
councils. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel acknowledged the ongoing efforts and agreed with the earlier 
comments about positioning Rebekah as the new face and direction for the organization, 
especially with the support of Central Florida RPC. He noted that this could serve as an 
important impetus for progress. He strongly recommended that SWFRPC staff reach out 
directly to the staff of each member county to request opportunities to meet, build 
relationships, and pursue agenda placement regardless of differing perspectives or concerns 
about the role and value of RPCs. 

 
He emphasized the point that "no money, no mission," underscoring the direct link between 
funding and the council's ability to function. Commissioner McDaniel stated that the most 
straightforward path to financial sustainability is for the membership to approve the proposed 
MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws. Doing so would create a consistent annual revenue 
stream aligned with current operating expenses, allowing the organization to function without 
incurring losses. He added that while grant funding would be beneficial and provide flexibility, 
financial stability is essential. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel returned to Ms. Wren Krahl, inviting her to share her thoughts. Ms. 
Wren Krahl from TBRPC expressed her optimism about the future of RPCs and described herself 
as a self-preservationist aligning with earlier comments made by Mr. White. Ms. Krahl 
acknowledged her long history with regional planning councils and recalled when this particular 
council was considered the model for all others under Wayne Daltrey’s leadership and the 
succession of leaders who followed. She affirmed TBRPC’s full support for the current council, 
highlighting Rebekah’s technological skills and the strong, committed team in place. Though the 
team is small, it has the potential to grow the organization. Ms. Krahl mentioned discussions 
about potentially implementing a civic technology program similar to the one at TBRPC. She 
expressed enthusiasm about the 12-month probation period, believing that with collaboration 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 11 
 

among Jennifer, herself, FRCA, Rebekah, and the SWFRPC team, success is achievable. She 
emphasized the region’s unique value and the importance of preserving and growing it. 

 
Mr. Burch added his final thoughts by acknowledging the talent of those involved and noting 
that the opportunities available are very good. However, he emphasized a critical point: despite 
any agreement or strategic effort, the council’s success ultimately depends on member 
counties choosing to actively participate and contribute financially. He noted that the refusal of 
members to commit to the SWFRPC whether by paying dues or engaging meaningfully, is the 
core issue, underscoring that without that commitment, progress will remain limited. 

 
Ms. Jennifer Codo-Salisbury, responding to Mr. Burch’s remarks, acknowledged that with 12 
months ahead, the focus should be on making that time count. She noted that her involvement 
stems from a genuine belief in the value of regional planning councils, particularly in how they 
support communities through shared technical resources. She stated that the immediate 
priority should be applying for the newly released USEDA disaster recovery grant, cautioning 
that missing this opportunity would represent yet another setback for the region. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel responded by reaffirming his commitment to the council's ongoing 
efforts, stressing that the organization would not quit. He stated this message was directed 
both to members and to those participating online. He stated that they will pursue every 
available grant opportunity to sustain operations, noting the council currently has about three 
months of operating revenue without additional contributions. 

 
He shared that he had overcome earlier issues with his county clerk regarding the acceptance 
of the interlocal agreement and bylaws, which had delayed payments from Collier County. After 
the executive committee adopted the drafts, his board approved them, allowing at least one 
quarter’s contribution to be processed, though the full recovery of previous funds remains 
uncertain. 

 
He thanked Ms. Wren Krahl for highlighting the value of the current staff and noted that 
leadership is aware and appreciative of their performance. Commissioner McDaniel also 
reflected on prior efforts to stabilize and rebrand the council, including past outreach to the 
Governor’s office seeking support for reconstitution and structural reform. Despite detailed 
letters and an explanation of the council’s financial challenges, he said those attempts went 
unanswered. 

 
He concluded by acknowledging that this is not a new issue and expressed gratitude for staff 
and the other RPCs who have offered their support. 

 
Ms. Dozier asked Commissioner McDaniel if, in his discussions with county clerks about dues for 
the current fiscal year, the Southwest RPC dues had been included in the budget for the 
upcoming fiscal year. 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 12 
 

Commissioner McDaniel confirmed that the Southwest RPC dues had been included in the 
budget for the next fiscal year. He explained that he initially believed all necessary steps had 
been completed but later realized that the draft interlocal agreement and bylaws had to be 
formally adopted by the council, which had not yet occurred. 

 
Ms. Wilkins asked Commissioner McDaniel if he was the key influence behind Collier County’s 
change of position, noting that relevancy had long been the issue. She questioned what Collier 
was looking for in doing so, whether they were aiming to make the council relevant going 
forward. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel acknowledged that relevancy has always been an issue for the RPC. He 
candidly stated that the previous administration and board enjoyed the authority and influence 
they once had when the Department of Community Affairs (DCA) existed. After Governor Scott 
disbanded the DCA, the organization was reluctant to relinquish that power, holding onto the 
influence they had as an authority overseeing regional growth and development projects. 

 
His board understood the necessity of regional collaboration for effective communication and 
planning. Once reorganized, he expressed the importance of involving staff from each member 
county’s planning departments in meetings, as elected officials alone cannot fully manage the 
technical aspects of regional planning. This approach aims to ensure consistent and effective 
communication about developments across the region. 

 
Recalling a past moment when the Babcock subdivision was emerging, he highlighted 
infrastructure challenges such as limited road access and services, underscoring the need for 
regional coordination. He stressed that despite competition among counties for funds, the RPC 
serves as a platform to unify efforts, leverage grants, and support counties with smaller tax 
bases unlike Collier, Lee, Charlotte, and Sarasota. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel noted that the vision, mission, business plan, and budget priorities 
have all been established, centered around a critical theme: water. As a member of the 16- 
County Coalition for the Cleanup of Lake Okeechobee, he highlighted the pressing concerns 
surrounding current discharges from the lake and the broader implications for water 
management in the region. He concluded that “water, water, and water” is now the guiding 
motto for the RPC’s work moving forward. 

 
Ms. Dozier added to the discussion by referencing the earlier question about what influenced 
Collier County’s renewed participation. She noted that each city and county likely has different 
reasons for disengaging or reengaging with the RPC, and the next 12 months present an 
opportunity to conduct a deeper assessment of each member’s unique priorities. Beyond the 
MOU and dues structure, she advocated for meaningful conversations with staff to better 
understand regional needs. While water has emerged as a key theme, she pointed out that 
deeper, previously unheld discussions could help identify specific issues and opportunities 
across the region. 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 13 
 

Commissioner McDaniel interjected to reinforce the point that each municipality in the region 
has its own distinct priorities, needs, and interests despite being collaborative partners, they 
also compete for limited resources. He stressed that before advancing further it was imperative 
for the communities to formally adopt the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws. As 
that process unfolds it will help reveal those specific priorities. 

 
Ms. Dozier acknowledged Commissioner McDaniel’s point but noted that not all jurisdictions 
may be ready to adopt the MOU and interlocal agreements immediately. She expressed hope 
that the 12-month period will prove to be a meaningful first step for many members, as formal 
adoption could help unlock administrative funding. However, based on her experience, she 
believes some commissions may require more time and dialogue with both staff and board 
members, especially given the lapse in participation. 

 
She emphasized that the option to work with Central Florida and other partners during this 
period offers members the opportunity to gradually reengage. Ms. Dozier highlighted that 
regional planning councils can uncover grants and opportunities that individual communities 
may not be aware of particularly through collaborative conversations with places like LaBelle, 
Glades, Hendry, and Collier counties. 

 
She referenced the recently announced federal disaster supplemental funding, a nationwide 
program exceeding $1 billion, noting that eight Florida RPCs, including Southwest, are eligible. 
However, the EDA expects to see organizational stability and strength in order for the SWFRPC 
to effectively compete for those funds. She noted that the partnership with Central Florida and 
demonstrated steps toward reorganization will help meet that expectation. 

 
Ultimately, she stated that a structured 12-month action plan with clear metrics and steps 
would be a practical way forward. This should include reviewing the Central Florida partnership 
contract at the next meeting and direct outreach to every community. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel emphasized to Ms. Dozier that she had only been involved for about a 
year, while he and others had been engaged much longer. 

 
Ms. Dozier responded that she joined FRCA in October but had been involved with the 
organization earlier as she was chair of the FRCA board of directors in 2022 as a county 
commissioner and had served on the board for six years. Therefore, she was already well- 
versed in FRCA’s concerns along with the other regional planning council’s concerns regarding 
Southwest RPC. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel responded to Ms. Dozier by emphasizing that they have been active in 
Southwest Florida for years and have witnessed firsthand the deficiencies within the 
organization. He stressed the critical need to first address the legal and structural foundations 
of the organization specifically, the adoption of the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and 
bylaws before moving forward. While the RPC has diverse membership with varying priorities, 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 14 
 

those differences can be addressed as the process continues. He highlighted the importance of 
solidifying the organization’s structure first to ensure its properly formed. 

 
He noted that outreach to municipalities should continue to identify individual community 
needs, helping staff better target grant funding opportunities. Commissioner McDaniel clarified 
that he wasn’t dismissing Ms. Dozier’s points but drawing from eight years of direct experience 
with the RPC. He referred to the long-standing struggles of the organization, noting that they 
have been watching what Mr. White called a “funeral”, for quite some time. 

 
Ms. Dozier clarified that both processes the formal approval of the MOU and the deeper 
conversations about priorities happen concurrently. Drawing from her experience on the 
Appalachia Regional board, she noted how long it took to bring some counties back into the 
fold, and she suggested that the same patience might be needed here. Some members may be 
ready to move quickly with new leadership and momentum, while others may require more 
time and dialogue. All these aspects should be addressed simultaneously rather than 
sequentially. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel acknowledged Ms. Dozier’s point and explained that when he revised 
the MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws, he structured dues to be paid quarterly. This 
approach was intended to give hesitant elected officials a chance to observe the organization’s 
relevance before fully committing taxpayer dollars. He noted that while love is freely given, 
trust and respect must be earned something this organization has yet to fully achieve and 
needs to rebuild moving forward. 

 
Ms. Jennifer Hecker from the Coastal and Heartland National Estuary Partnership (CHNEP) 
shared her perspective, highlighting the long-standing partnership between CHNEP and the 
regional planning councils. With over two decades of experience working with the Southwest 
Florida RPC and recent close collaboration with the Central Florida RPC, she acknowledged the 
importance of strengthening RPCs to maintain their viability. 

 
She highlighted CHNEP’s mission to unite Central and Southwest Florida to protect water and 
wildlife, resonating with the earlier emphasis on “water, water, water.” CHNEP covers a 
regional partnership of ten counties overlapping mostly with the Southwest Florida RPC, except 
for Collier County, which is served by a federally funded sister program, the NOAA Rookery Bay 
National Estuary Research Reserve. This creates a complementary relationship where CHNEP 
focuses on water issues, while she sees the RPCs role as focusing on transportation and growth 
planning which is something they do not do. 

 
Ms. Hecker noted several ongoing collaborative projects blending transportation, growth 
planning, and water resource protection with CFRPC and expressed interest in partnering with 
SWFRPC on funding applications for future projects. 
She also shared that when she began about nine years ago, her organization faced similar 
challenges around member confidence and value perception. By undergoing a visioning process 
and strategic planning overhaul including changing the organization’s name and mission focus 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 15 
 

they successfully revitalized member engagement and financial support. She endorsed the 
recommendation to first demonstrate value through a new strategic visioning process as a 
transformative step toward increased participation and funding. She reaffirmed CHNEP’s 
steadfast support for both RPCs and offered assistance to help strengthen their efforts moving 
forward. 

 
Mr. Derek Felder spoke, mentioning he had attended a few previous meetings and wanted to 
share some insights. He recalled that Commissioner David Muleka had participated in the April 
meeting via Zoom and noted that there had been attempts to contact Brian Hammond. Derek 
said he has a meeting scheduled with Mr. Hammond on Tuesday and plans to discuss the 
council and regional planning aspects to gauge his perspective. He also suggested reaching out 
directly to Commissioner Muleka since he was involved earlier, which might open another 
avenue for engagement. As a side note, Mr. Felder cautioned to be mindful in the approach 
because Commissioner Muleka’s wife is a member of the House of Representatives, which 
could potentially bring state legislative involvement into play. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel thanked Mr. Felder for his input and, acknowledging his ongoing 
engagement, asked for his assistance moving forward. He emphasized that the SWFRPC is 
seeking to be placed on an upcoming Lee County Commission agenda. The goal would be to 
present the newly developed plan, outline the associated budget considerations, and share the 
council’s vision in hopes of reestablishing a partnership with Lee County. He asked Mr. Felder to 
encourage county officials to review the updated draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws, 
noting that the structure now includes quarterly payments giving elected officials the ability to 
assess progress and relevance before committing further. Commissioner McDaniel expressed 
that any help Mr. Felder could provide in facilitating this outreach would be greatly 
appreciated. 

 
Mr. Tom Lanahan, Executive Director of the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council, offered a 
brief but supportive comment. He acknowledged that although his council is located on the 
east coast of the state, both he and other directors from across Florida were fully committed to 
assisting the Southwest Florida RPC. He emphasized the importance of working together and 
expressed a willingness to provide whatever support is needed to help the council succeed. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel acknowledged that he hadn’t realized in advance the level of 
participation from other regional planning councils and thanked Ms. Dozier for rallying support. 
He expressed genuine appreciation for having representatives from other RPCs present to hear 
the discussions and decisions firsthand. Reflecting on his leadership style, he admitted he can 
sometimes be a bit heavy-handed but emphasized that the RPC operates through collaborative 
decision-making. He expressed sincere gratitude for everyone’s contributions, ideas, and 
willingness to engage in the process. 

 
Ms. Dozier clarified that while Mr. Lanahan hadn’t mentioned it directly, he currently serves as 
Chair of the Executive Directors Advisory Committee (EDAC) for FRCA, with Jennifer serving as 
Treasurer and Tara from ECFRPC as Vice Chair. She noted that she had already sent the meeting 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 16 
 

agenda and a comprehensive update to the EDAC earlier in the week. Although Southwest 
Florida RPC has not been paying dues to FRCA, former Executive Director Margaret was still 
included in communications. Over the past two months, Acting Director Rebekah Harp has been 
actively engaged, receiving all email communications and updates. Ms. Dozier emphasized that 
Rebekah now has a network of nine peer directors many of whom have navigated similar 
transitions who are committed to supporting her. 

 
She also acknowledged that past communication under Margaret’s leadership was often 
limited, something others in the group may have noticed as well. In contrast, the recent 
transparency and collaboration with Rebekah and Southwest staff over the past six weeks have 
significantly improved understanding of the situation, and she expressed confidence that this 
openness will support continued progress. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel pointed out what he described as the core conundrum facing the 
Southwest Florida Regional Planning Council: for years, the organization operated under 
outdated interlocal agreements, bylaws, and a constitution that were effectively out of 
alignment with current state statute. He explained that prior administrations were constrained 
by these outdated frameworks, which required actions like billing member governments based 
on outdated per diem rates simply because that’s what the previous agreements dictated. This 
limited flexibility created administrative inefficiencies. He emphasized that those structures had 
not been revised until recently, but now the organization is moving forward with updated 
governance. Acknowledging both the missteps and lessons of the past, he concluded that the 
goal now is to avoid repeating past mistakes while reinforcing what has worked well. 

 
Commissioner Tim Stanley expressed concern about the financial sustainability of the Southwest 
Florida Regional Planning Council (SWFRPC), especially for smaller counties like Glades. He noted 
that without securing additional funding — particularly through grants — staff positions may be 
in jeopardy after October. He emphasized that simply presenting new bylaws at a board meeting 
and asking for financial support would not be effective. Instead, he stressed the importance of 
proactive outreach: engaging commissioners and staff directly, explaining clearly what value 
they will receive in return for their investment. 

 
He acknowledged the skepticism some larger counties have expressed that they already have 
internal staff capable of the same work and highlighted the need to overcome that perception 
through targeted communication and justification of the Council’s services. Commissioner 
Stanley recommended that Interim Executive Director Rebekah be directly involved in these 
discussions to articulate the benefits of participation. 

 
He also underscored that meaningful participation, especially from major counties like Lee and 
Charlotte, is crucial for the Council’s survival. Finally, he pointed out that if SWFRPC were to 
dissolve, member counties would still be required by state law to belong to another regional 
planning council likely at a cost suggesting this could become a motivating factor for counties to 
recommit to SWFRPC rather than risk a potentially more complicated or costly alternative. 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 17 
 

Mr. Burch added that the SWFRPC exists to represent the people of Southwest Florida. He 
expressed concern that if the Council gets to a point where individual counties within the 
region choose to align themselves with other organizations, they will have diluted their entire 
power of interest in their communities. Mr. Burch stressed that elected officials must recognize 
their responsibility to represent the people of region. He urged that board meetings should be 
conducted actively and with intention, rather than passively. According to him, the 
expectations are straightforward: pay the required dues, participate in the meetings, and the 
organization will function effectively. However, he warned that failure to do so offers no safety 
net as there is no probationary period or external entity that can step in to resolve the 
consequences of disengagement. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel and Mr. Burch engaged in a moment of agreement that highlighted 
their shared concerns about the Council’s current state. Commissioner McDaniel affirmed Mr. 
Burch’s points, noting that the principles being discussed have long guided the organization. In 
response, Mr. Burch pointed out the low attendance as a sign of disengagement. Commissioner 
McDaniel made it clear he wasn’t disputing Mr.Burch’s remarks, acknowledging them as 
factual. When Burch asked if they now had a clear plan of action moving forward, 
Commissioner McDaniel confirmed they did. 

 
Ms. Wilkins expressed her willingness to collaborate with Commissioner McDaniel to approach 
the county manager and seek to have their concerns included on the agenda for Hendry 
County. She reflected on her experience serving on the council in the 1980s when Wayne 
Daltrey was involved, noting that at that time, all comprehensive plans for the cities and Hendry 
County were developed by the RPC. These plans are currently being revised. Ms. Wilkins 
emphasized that back then, it was easy to simply call the RPC for support and receive a prompt 
response, highlighting the level of engagement that existed and is still necessary today. She 
pointed out that the county needs to consider how to supplement its staff, as was discussed, by 
contracting with various agencies. This approach would be ideal given the small size of both the 
county and the city. While she acknowledged that ultimately it is the county’s decision which 
cities participate, she stressed the importance of working together with Commissioner 
McDaniel to present these ideas to county officials. 

 
Mr. Carlisle highlighted the important role that city and county managers play in guiding 
commissions and councils. He pointed out that these officials rely on the professional expertise 
of managers to make informed decisions. Mr. Carlisle offered to work with Rebekah and 
Jennifer to arrange meetings with various county managers to discuss their concerns, feedback, 
and overall perspectives. He suggested that this approach would allow them to develop a 
thoughtful plan, as Mr. Burch had proposed, rather than going directly to commission meetings 
which Mr. Carlisle felt might not be well received. He expressed his willingness, pending 
Commissioner Stanley’s approval, to take the lead in meeting with county managers to explain 
the importance of the initiative and collaboratively create a strategic plan. Mr. Carlisle stressed 
that involving county managers in the planning process would be crucial for its success. He 
agreed that simply presenting intentions without addressing objections would not be effective 
and advocated for starting with open conversations to understand and overcome concerns, 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 18 
 

ultimately encouraging managers to support and advise their commissions on the viability of 
the solution. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel expressed strong support for Mr. Carlisle’s idea, acknowledging that it 
was perfectly stated. Commissioner McDaniel explained that, as an elected board member, he 
relies heavily on his senior staff starting with the county manager and county attorney and then 
other staff members, to provide input on what needs to be done. His voting decisions are 
ultimately based on the interests of the constituents he represents. Commissioner McDaniel 
clarified that he did not intend to exclude senior management of individual counties from the 
process and emphasized that, ultimately, the board of county commissioners holds statutory 
responsibility as members of the RPC. He acknowledged that decisions about whether to 
reorganize the Council such as merging with central or coastal counties are still to be 
determined. Nevertheless, Commissioner McDaniel affirmed his full intention to involve county 
managers from each county to address their concerns moving forward. 

 
Ms. Krahl echoed the importance of involving county administrators and managers involved in 
the discussion. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel clarified that the board is only accepting the draft MOU, bylaws, and 
Interlocal Agreement at this stage not formally adopting them. He explained that these 
documents have already been accepted by the executive committee of the Southwest Florida 
Regional Planning Council. Now, the board is simply asking the individual statutory members to 
accept the agreements so they can move forward. McDaniel noted that once everyone agrees, 
they will seek the opinions of each county attorney. He referenced a past situation during Mr. 
Burch’s chairmanship when multiple lawyers were involved, resulting in conflicting opinions. 

 
Ms. Wilkins proposed to Commissioner McDaniel that although the Council needs financial 
support, they could consider asking members to adopt the agreements while waiving the fees 
for the probationary year. She suggested that if grants are being used during this period, it 
would reduce the immediate financial burden and make it easier for members to agree to the 
adoption without feeling pressured. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel firmly rejected the idea of waiving fees during the probationary year. 
He explained that they had already reduced the per diem from 30 cents to 15 cents and 
arranged for payments to be made quarterly to ease the financial burden on hesitant elected 
officials. He pointed out that, for example, Collier County spends as much as $15,000 quarterly 
comparable to their lunch expenses. While acknowledging that this amount may still be 
significant for some counties, Commissioner McDaniel emphasized that the fees are as low as 
they can reasonably go for now. He highlighted a key issue: the statute states that counties 
"should" pay, not that they "must" pay, which has contributed to the ongoing challenges. 
Commissioner McDaniel recounted how Sarasota’s decision to join Tampa, but ultimately not 
follow through, sparked a cascade effect where Lee County and Charlotte County also withheld 
payments. Collier County held on for three years because of the Promise Zone grant, but 
eventually, Commissioner McDaniel faced pressure from his clerk regarding the council’s 



Minutes by Catherine Peralta, SWFRPC Page 19 
 

relevance. He noted that the RPC’s work has included areas like Immokalee, Hendry, and Glades 
counties, and he continued to push for Collier County’s involvement despite these difficulties. 

 
Ms. Hecker added to the conversation by sharing they had faced similar challenges, where 
confusion between Central Florida and Southwest Florida complicated efforts to establish 
interlocal agreements. She acknowledged that they have a good understanding of the counties 
the Council is trying to re-engage. Ms. Hecker recommended, as a consideration, beginning by 
encouraging those counties to reconnect and become involved in the visioning process to 
ensure their voices are heard and that their input shapes the new direction. Only after some 
progress on this engagement should the issue of dues and financial contributions be 
introduced. While she recognized the urgency of securing funding, she suggested that the key 
challenge is not the amount of dues but rather rebuilding trust and confidence in the 
organization. Ms.Hecker advised that re-engaging members over a few months before pressing 
the financial matter might be more effective timing. 

 
Mr. Burch pointed out that budget planning is already in progress. He noted that many counties 
are currently preparing their budgets, so waiting three months to address the financial 
commitment might mean missing an important opportunity to act effectively. 

 
Ms. Dozier added that even if some counties cannot include the dues in their FY26 budgets, it’s 
important to keep them engaged throughout the year. She pointed out that there is a 12- 
month window to work with them. Referring back to Ms. Wilkins earlier point, she suggested 
starting by presenting the MOU and clearly outlining the goal they want to achieve. If a county 
isn’t ready to commit financially right away, she recommended having a conversation to secure 
their commitment to stay involved with the RPC during the year and to place the issue on their 
agenda for future discussion perhaps around February. She stressed the value of having a clear 
list of steps to ensure those willing to engage immediately can move forward while others 
remain involved. 

 
Commissioner McDaniel offered a different perspective, explaining that accounting, especially 
fund accounting, is more of an art than an exact science. He noted that with a few budget 
amendments, it’s possible to address shortfalls that weren’t initially budgeted for. While 
engagement is crucial, even if a county can’t include dues in the upcoming budget cycle, there 
is flexibility to adjust budgets later. The budget for September is typically drafted the previous 
year, and board policies guiding the budget are set months in advance. Despite this long 
planning process, mid-year budget amendments allow for adjustments, providing opportunities 
to accommodate new financial commitments. This flexibility is why it’s important not to be 
discouraged if dues can’t be included immediately. 

 
Ms. Codo-Salisbury agreed with the sentiment that leading with immediate requests for 
funding could be off-putting, causing some to disengage as some have already decided not to 
participate financially. However, she expressed optimism about the upcoming meetings, 
believing they would foster productive discussions. All parties are always welcome and 
encouraged to participate. As they move forward with the 12-month plan, she suggested 




